บทบาทของไนตริกออกไซด์ต่อการแสดงออกของอินทิกรินและการเคลื่อนที่ในเซลล์มะเร็งปอดของ มนุษย์



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาเภสัชศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเภสัชวิทยาและพิษวิทยา ภาควิชาเภสัชวิทยาและสรีรวิทยา คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2558 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

ROLE OF NITRIC OXIDE ON INTEGRIN EXPRESSION AND MIGRATION IN HUMAN LUNG CANCER CELLS

Mr. Vhudhipong Saisongkorh



Chulalongkorn University

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Pharmacy Program in Pharmacology and Toxicology Department of Pharmacology and Physiology Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2015 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	ROLE OF NITRIC OXIDE ON INTEGRIN EXPRESSION
	AND MIGRATION IN HUMAN LUNG CANCER CELLS
Ву	Mr. Vhudhipong Saisongkorh
Field of Study	Pharmacology and Toxicology
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Pithi Chanvorachote, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

>Dean of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences (Assistant Professor Rungpetch Sakulbumrungsil, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman

(Associate Professor Suree Jianmongkol, Ph.D.)

_____Thesis Advisor

(Associate Professor Pithi Chanvorachote, Ph.D.)

Examiner

(Associate Professor Police Lieutenant Colonel Somsong Lawanprasert, Ph.D.)

_____External Examiner

(Kriengsak Lirdprapamongkol, Ph.D.)

วุฒิพงศ์ สายสงเคราะห์ : บทบาทของไนตริกออกไซด์ต่อการแสดงออกของอินทิกรินและ การเคลื่อนที่ในเซลล์มะเร็งปอดของมนุษย์ (ROLE OF NITRIC OXIDE ON INTEGRIN EXPRESSION AND MIGRATION IN HUMAN LUNG CANCER CELLS) อ.ที่ปรึกษา วิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: รศ. ภก. ดร.ปิติ จันทร์วรโชติ, 72 หน้า.

ในตริกออกไซด์ ก๊าซอนุมูลอิสระซึ่งนอกจากมีบทบาทควบคุมการขยายตัวของหลอดเลือด และกระบวนการอักเสบแล้วยังมีอิทธิพลต่อการแพร่กระจายของเซลล์มะเร็งอีกด้วย อย่างไรก็ตาม ผล ของในตริกออกไซด์ต่อการแสดงออกของอินทิกริน ซึ่งเป็นโปรตีนที่ควบคุมการยึดเกาะและการ ้เคลื่อนที่ของเซลล์ยังคงไม่ทราบเป็นที่แน่ชัด เนื่องจากการเปลี่ยนแปลงรูปแบบ (การแสดงออก) ของ อินทิกรินมีผลต่อการเคลื่อนที่ตลอดจนการแพร่กระกระจายของเซลล์มะเร็ง ดังนั้นในงานวิจัยนี้จึง ้ศึกษาผลของในตริกออกไซด์ต่อรูปแบบการของอินทิกริน ตลอดจนกลไกที่เกี่ยวข้องที่ใช้ใน กระบวนการควบคุมการแสดงออกของอินทิกริน ผลการทดลองพบว่า การรับสัมผัสไนตริกออกไซด์ใน ขนาดที่ไม่เป็นเป็นพิษต่อเซลล์ (0-50 mM) มีผลเหนี่ยวนำให้เซลล์มะเร็งปอด (H460, H292 และ H23) มีความสามารถในการเคลื่อนที่ที่เพิ่มขึ้น โดยความสามารถในการเคลื่อนที่ของเซลล์จะมีความ สอดคล้องกับระดับการแสดงออกของอินทิกรินชนิด $lpha \lor$ และ eta1 ตลอดจนโปรตีนที่ทำหน้าที่ควบคุม การเคลื่อนที่ของเซลล์ ได้แก่ FAK, Rho-GTP และ Cdc42-GTP อย่างมีนัยสำคัญ ในขณะที่เมื่อ พิจารณารูปลักษณะของเซลล์พบว่า เซลล์มีการเปลี่ยนแปลงลักษณะทางสัณฐานวิทยา คือ มีจำนวน ของ filopodia ซึ่งเป็นโครงสร้างแอคตินที่ใช้สำหรับการเคลื่อนที่ของเซลล์เพิ่มขึ้นเช่นกัน นอกจากนี้ ในการศึกษาลำดับขั้นหรือกลไกที่ใช้ในการควบคุมการแสดงออกของอินทิกรินในทางเภสัชวิทยาพบว่า เมื่อยับยั้งการทำงานของโปรตีน AKT ซึ่งเป็นเอนไซม์ที่ถูกควบคุมโดยโปรตีน PKG พบว่าการ เปลี่ยนแปลงลักษณะการแสดงออกของอินทิกรินถูกยับยั้งได้ด้วยตัวยับยั้งการทำงานของ AKT จาก การเปลี่ยนแปลงลักษณะดังกล่าว บ่งชี้ให้เห็นว่าในตริกออกไซด์ควบคุมการแสดงออกของอินทิกริน ้โดนผ่านวิถีสัญญาณ PKG-AKT โดยสรุปงานวิจัยนี้ได้แสดงให้เห็นถึงบทบาทใหม่ของไนตริกออกไซด์ ในการควบคุมการแสดงออกของอินทิกรินและพฤติกรรมการเคลื่อนที่ของเซลล์มะเร็ง

ภาควิชา เภสัชวิทยาและสรีรวิทยา สาขาวิชา เภสัชวิทยาและพิษวิทยา ปีการศึกษา 2558

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	

5776129033 : MAJOR PHARMACOLOGY AND TOXICOLOGY

KEYWORDS: NITRIC OXIDE / INTEGRIN / MIGRATION / LUNG CANCER

VHUDHIPONG SAISONGKORH: ROLE OF NITRIC OXIDE ON INTEGRIN EXPRESSION AND MIGRATION IN HUMAN LUNG CANCER CELLS. ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. PITHI CHANVORACHOTE, Ph.D., 72 pp.

Nitric oxide (NO), a highly reactive free radical gas involving in vascular control and inflammatory response, has influenced on cancer metastasis, but the understanding of its regulation on integrin, an important protein functioning in adhesion and motility, is still largely unknown. Alteration of integrin pattern has been shown to have a dramatic impact on cancer cell migratory activities as well as the survival during dissemination. This study has revealed that the human lung cancer cell lines (H460, H292 and H23) exposed to non-toxic concentrations of NO (0-50 μ M) had higher level of integrin α v and β 1, and such an increase of the specific integrins correlated with augmented ability of cells to motile. The known migratory proteins downstream of integrins including focal adhesion kinase (FAK), active RhoA (Rho-GTP), active cell division control 42(Cdc42-GTP) were found to be significantly activated in response to NO. Besides, this study observed the augmented motile morphology of NO-treated cells indicated by the dramatic increase of filopodia (actin protrusion) per cell. In terms of underlying mechanism, this study also found that NO-treated cells exhibited increased active protein kinase G (PKG), protein kinase B (AKT) and FAK. Using pharmacological approach, as AKT is downstream target of PKG, the results proved that integrin modulating effect of NO was mediated through PKG/AKT-dependent mechanism as the change in integrin as mentioned were completely diminished by AKT inhibitor, but not FAK inhibitor. These findings indicate a novel role of NO on integrin regulation and its importance in migratory cancer behavior.

Department: Pharmacology and Physiology Field of Study: Pharmacology and

Toxicology

Student's Signature

Academic Year: 2015

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am deeply grateful to Associate Professor Pithi Chanvorachote, Ph.D. for their invaluable advice and their patient proofreading towards the completion of this study.

I would also like to extend our sincere thanks to Assistant Professor Varisa Pongrakhananon, Ph.D., Chatchai Chaotham, Ph.D., the lab members, Mr. Arnatchai Maiuthed, Miss Thitita Unahabhokha, Narumol Bhummaphan and other members for their helpful suggestions. Their ideas are so useful for this study.

I also sincerely thank Department of Pharmacology and Physiology, Faculty of Pharmaceutical sciences, at Chulalongkorn University, for giving me an incredible opportunity to study in Master degree.

Special thanks go to my thesis committees, Associate Professor Suree Jianmongkol, Ph.D., Associate Professor Police Lieutenant Colonel Somsong Lawanprasert, Ph.D., and Dr. Kriengsak Lirdprapamongkol, Ph.D. for valuable comments and suggestions.

Additionally, I would like to thank my family, my closes friend and whose names are not mentioned here for greatly inspired and encouraged me until this study comes to a perfect end.

CONTENTS

		Page
THAI .	ABSTR	ACTiv
ENGL	ISH AB	STRACTv
ACKN	OWLE	DGEMENTSvi
CONT	ENTS.	Vii
LIST (OF TAE	BLESix
LIST (DF FIG	URESx
LIST (of Abe	BREVIATIONS
CHAP	TER I	INTRODUCTION
CHAP	TER II	LITRATURE REVIEW
1.	Lung	cancer
2.	Meta	stasis of lung cancer
	2.1	Cell migration
	2.2	Migration in lung cancer cells
3	Integ	rin 8
	3.1	Integrin structure and family
	3.2	Integrin in biological function
	3.3	Regulation of integrin
	3.4	Integrin signaling during migration11
	3.5	Integrin and cancer aggressive13
4	Nitric	oxide
	4.1	Biological source of nitric oxide14
	4.2	Biological function of nitric oxide15

Page

4.3	Nitric oxide and cancer	6
CHAPTER III	MATERIALS AND METHODS 1	9
CHAPTER IV	RESULTS	,4
Part I	Cytotoxic effects of nitric oxide on human lung cancer cell lines	,4
Part II	Migratory characterization in NO treatment4	0
Part III Me	echanism of NO which mediated human lung cancer cell migration	
and i	ntegrin expression	1
CHAPTER V	DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	9
REFERENCES	5	2
VITA	7	2



จุฬาลงกรณิมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University viii

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Cancer related integrin expression	
Table 3.1 Human lung cancer cell line descrip	otion19



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

Figure 2.1 Drug developments in lung cancer therapy	4
Figure 2.2 The step of cancer metastasis	5
Figure 2.3 Cell morphology and mode of migration	6
Figure 2.4 Integrin structure and family	7
Figure 2.5 Activation of integrin	
Figure 2.6 Role of integrin on cell migration	
Figure 2.7 Rho GTPase family function	13
Figure 2.8 Synthesis of nitric oxide	14
Figure 2.9 Biological action of nitric oxide	15
Figure 2.10 Production of nitric oxide in cancer cells	17
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Figure 3.1 Dipropylenetramine (DPTA) NONOate	20
Figure 3.2 Conceptual framework	25
Figure 3.3 Experimental design	26
Figure 3.4 Diagram of cytotoxic test	27
Figure 3.5 Diagram of proliferative test	
Figure 3.6 Diagram of migration evaluation	29
Figure 3.7 Diagram of cell morphology evaluation	29
Figure 3.8 Diagram of integrin expression determination	
Figure 3.9 Diagram of signaling protein determination.	
Figure 3.10 Diagram of regulatory cascade identification	

CHAPTER IV RESULTS

Figure 4.1 Cytotoxic effect of nitric oxide on human lung cancer cell lines (H	460,
H292 and H23)	34
Figure 4.2 Proliferative effect of nitric oxide on human lung cancer cell lines	(H460,
H292 and H23)	<u>3</u> 8
Figure 4.3 Nitric oxide enhanced monolayer wound healing	40
Figure 4.4 Nitric oxide enhanced human lung cancer cell migration	42
Figure 4.5 Nitric oxide induced filopodia formation	43
Figure 4.6 The alteration of Rho GTPase family proteins during cell migration	45
Figure 4.7 Effect of nitric oxide on integrin expression	48
Figure 4.8 Nitric oxide activated PKG, AKT and FAK signaling proteins	51
Figure 4.9 Nitric oxide mediated integrin switch and enhanced cell migration	via AKT
dependent mechanism	<u>5</u> 4
Figure 4.10 Integrin signaling mediated cell migration through FAK protein	56
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
Figure 5.1 Schematic overview of nitric oxide mediates integrin switch via AK	Τ-
dependent mechanism.	<u>60</u>

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AKT	=	protein kinase B
ANOVA	=	analysis of variance
Bad	=	BCL2-associated death promoter
Bak	=	BCL2 homologous antagonist/killer
Bax	=	BCL2-associated X
Bcl-2	=	B-cell lymphoma 2
Bcl-XL	=	B-cell lymphoma-extra large
Bid		BH3 interacting domain death agonist
Bim	= ////	BcL-2-like protein 11
Cdc42	= ///	cell division control protein 42
CO ₂	-	carbon dioxide
DMSO	=	dimethyl sulfoxide
ECM	=	extracellular matrix
EMT	_ จุหาลงกร ด	epithelial-mesenchymal transition
FAK	=	focal adhesion kinase
GDP	=	guanosine diphosphate
GTP	=	guanosine triphosphate
h	=	hour, hours
МАРК	=	mitogen activated protein kinase
min	=	minute (S)
ml	=	milliliter
mM	=	millimolar
MMP	=	matrix metalloproteinase

MTT	=	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-
		diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NO	=	nitric oxide
NSCLC	=	non-small cell lung cancer
PBS	=	phosphate buffer saline
PI	=	propidium iodide
PKG	=	protein kinase G
RPMI	=	Roswell Park Memorial Institute's medium
S.D.	=	standard deviation
Src	-	proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase
U	//	unit

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER I

Background and rationale

The microenvironment of cancer has a dramatic impact on cancer metastasis and aggressive behavior. As metastasis is one of the crucial factors determining survival of cancer patients, attempts have been made to identify key molecular mediators that control metastasis. It has become evident that the endogenous gas nitric oxide (NO) which is frequently found to be up-regulated in cancer-related area [1], acts as a key transcellular messenger in regulation of the cardiovascular and neuronal systems [2, 3], and plays a role in progression of several pathological conditions including cancer [4, 5]. In terms of cancer, macrophage-derived NO was shown to function as an anti-cancer substance, by directly interacts with DNA and protein resulted in cancer cell toxicity [6]. However, cancer-derived nitric oxide has been shown to have tumor-potentiating functions. In lung cancer, NO was shown to facilitate cell survival after detachment [7].

Furthermore, various studies have pointed out that the excessive and uncontrolled nitric oxide production positively correlated with cancer metastasis in many cancers [4, 8-11]. Regarding cancer metastasis, an essential early step of cancer cell dissemination is activated by the turnover of cell-extracellular matrix (ECM) adhesion resulting in cancer cell migration. Dynamically, new interactions between cell and matrix are made in the front and the old adhesions are disassembled in the rear of cells that motile in response to a gradient of stimulating factors or ECM proteins [12]. The key proteins functioning in cell adhesion are integrins. Integrins are a diverse family of transmembrane glycoprotein receptors which mediated dynamic interactions between ECM and actin cytoskeleton during cell motility. Integrin interaction with ECM components provides several cellular signals controlling cell survival and motility [13, 14]. In terms of motility, integrin activates the FAK/Src pathways lead to the increase activity of Rho family of small GTPase including Rho, Rac and cell division control protein 42 (Cdc42) [12] resulting in cytoskeletal dynamic shift and formation of lamellipodia and filopodia respectively [15]. Accumulated evidence in recent years suggest that enhanced migration in cancer cells are accompanied by switches in cellular integrin pattern with some integrins decreased and others increased [16, 17]. Importantly, the increase of integrins αv , $\beta 5$, $\alpha 1$, and $\beta 3$ has been demonstrated to enhance migration and metastasis competence in cancer [18-21].

So far, the effect of NO in regulation of integrin expression pattern in lung cancer cells and its contribution to cell motility is largely unknown. Therefore this study aims to investigate the role of NO in regulation of integrins expression and cell migration in human lung cell lines. The expected knowledge gain from this study could be important in the understanding of migration behavior in metastatic of lung cancers.

Research Questions

- 1. Does NO enhance lung cancer cells migration via up-regulation of αv , $\beta 5$, $\alpha 1$, and $\beta 3$ integrins expression?
- 2. Does NO mediate integrin expression through AKT dependent mechanism?

Objectives

- 1. To investigate the effect of NO on integrin expression and migration behavior in H460, H292 and H23 human lung cancer cell lines.
- 2. To find out specific integrin that influence on H460, H292 and H23 cells migration.
- 3. To investigate the involvement of AKT protein induced by NO in regulation of αv , $\beta 5$, $\alpha 1$, and $\beta 3$ integrin expression.

Hypothesis

NO enhances human lung cancer cell migration through up-regulation of migration related integrin (αv , $\beta 5$, $\alpha 1$, and $\beta 3$) via AKT dependent mechanism.

ส์พ.เยงบระหาหม.เวมอ.เยอ

Expected benefits

The results of this study may clarify role of NO in regulation of lung cancer cells migration and integrin expression, which can help in development of novel anticancer strategy and better understanding in lung cancer biology.

CHAPTER II LITRATURE REVIEW

1. Lung cancer

Lung cancer is the most common malignancies worldwide, generated from normal epithelial cells continuously genetic damage leading to uncontrolled proliferation resulting in abnormal cells growth in the airway of lungs. The incidence as well as mortality rate of patients with lung cancer has increase annually. There are two major types of lung cancer, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC; 85% of all lung cancer cases) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC; about 15%) [22]. Moreover, histological classification can be divided NSCLC into three major subtypes including squamous cell carcinoma, adenocarcinoma and large-cell carcinoma. The importance of classification is revealed to treatment strategy and prediction of cancer outcome.



Figure 2.1 Drug developments in lung cancer therapy

At the present day, surgery, radiation, chemotherapy and targeted therapy are used in lung cancer treatment. Despite among multiple approaches and new strategies has been developed continuously in cancer treatment (Figure 2.1), the survival rate of lung cancer patients still very low. The incidence of cancer mortality has indicated that the major cause of lung cancer death is due to metastasis [23].

2. Metastasis of lung cancer

Low survival rate and poor clinical outcome of lung cancer is due to highly metastatic potential of cancer cells. Metastasis is the spread of cancer cells from the origin site to new areas of the body, comprising of five major steps (Figure 2.2) including;

- (i) Migration and Invasion
- (ii) Intravasation
- (iii) Survival in the circulation
- (iv) Extravasation
- (v) Metastatic colonization at the secondary site.

Among the multiple steps, cell migration has implicated as essential early step which referred to a major hallmark of metastasis [24, 25].



Figure 2.2 The step of cancer metastasis [24]

2.1 Cell migration

Regarding cancer metastasis, an essential early step of cancer cell dissemination from primary tumor site is activated by the turnover of cell-extracellular matrix (ECM) adhesion resulting in cancer cell migration.

Cell migration is the process by which cells move from one location to another by adopting different motility modes in such single cell or multicellular streaming. The distinct modes of cell migration contribute to diverse type of cellular movement including collective cell migration and single cell migration.

Dynamically, new interactions between cell and basement matrix are made in front of protrusion areas, and the old adhesions are disassembled in rear body of cells that drive cell move forward in response to a gradient of stimulating factors or ECM proteins.



Figure 2.3 Cell morphology and mode of migration [26]

Collective cell migration is the movement while intercellular interaction is retained resulting in co-ordinate movement. In contrast, single cell migration is described as individual movements which can divide into two subtypes consist of mesenchymal migration and amoeboid migration.

Even though, mesenchymal migration and amoeboid migration are shared many feature together, they also behave the difference in characteristic during cellular movement. Mesenchymal migration is the movement which mediated through integrin-extracellular matrix (ECM) contact or integrin-dependent migration whereas amoeboid migration exhibits relative weak integrin contact and can even be integrin-independent migration [27, 28].

2.2 Migration in lung cancer cells

The metastasis process of lung cancer cell is usually initiated with micrometastasis which involved in mesenchymal migration. This single cell migration type is characterized by the polarization to form leading-direction edge. After polarization, cells extend actin filament on protrusion areas to form new adhesion contact, follow by rearward retraction to achieve complete cellular movement.

These multiple step are associated with cell surface receptor known as "integrin" which play a key function in adhesion of ECM and transduction of signals during the migration [29].



Figure 2.4 Integrin structure and family [30]

3 Integrin

3.1 Integrin structure and family

Integrins are a diverse family of transmembrane glycoprotein receptors which mediated dynamic interactions between ECM and actin cytoskeleton during cellular movement. Integrin family can form at least 24 distinct heterodimer of 18 α -subunits and 8 β -subunits. The heterodimer of integrins generally consist of non-covalent bond link between α - and β -subunit, with each subunit has a large extracellular domain (extracellular region), a single membrane-spanning domain and a short cytoplasmic domain (intracellular region) [31].

3.2 Integrin in biological function

Integrin receptors are the key proteins that regulate diverse cellular functions. The major function of integrin is not only attachment the cell cytoskeleton to ECM but also transduction of biological signaling to cell. These signals are necessary for cell migration, invasion, survival, proliferation and differentiation.

In the migration aspect, Integrin binds to ECM proteins and provide the traction force for cell motility. Initially, integrin ligation activates focal adhesion kinase (FAK) which can stimulate Rho GTPase family including Rho, Rac and Cdc42 [32]. Furthermore, Integrins are also associated with regulating the activities of protease enzymes called matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) that degrade the basement membrane. Numerous studies indicate that MMP activating is involved in $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 integrin result in cancer cell migration and invasion [33, 34].

Moreover, cell to matrix adhesion is a key factor for cell survival and proliferation. The role of integrins in cell survival is suppressing the apoptosis in attached cells. At least 4 heterodimers of integrin (α 5 β 1, α v β 3, α 1 β 1 and α 6 β 1) have reported to play an important role in cell survival. Activation signaling from

these heterodimers is able to stimulate survival pathway such as PI3K/AKT and mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK). These pathways prevent apoptosis cell death by inhibiting pro-apoptotic protein (Bid and Bim) and activating anti-apoptotic protein (Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, and Mcl-1).

On the other hand, loss of attachment to ECM, cells undergo especially apoptosis in termed "anoikis" [35]. In cell proliferation, cell cycle progression is involved in integrin-mediated adhesion, by regulating of cyclin D1 which is a necessary protein for progression through the G1 phase of the cell cycle. Integrin also activates FAK which plays a role in phosphorylation of ERK and induction of cyclin D1 [36].

3.3 Regulation of integrin

Almost integrins are expressed and remain in a low-affinity binding state until achieve signaling to activate and transforms them into a high-affinity form. There are two directions of integrin activation signaling including "inside out signaling" and "outside in signaling", which have different in biological consequences.

Cytoplasmic domain of integrin plays a central role in integrin activation. During inside out signaling, talin is a major cytoskeleton protein that co-localizes and binds to β -cytoplasmic domain. This binding result in turn activate of integrin leading to change in conformation and increase the affinity to ECM. The affinity strength between integrin and ECM should be sufficiently strong for cell adhesion and migration assembly. On the other hand, outside-in signaling is a transmission of signals from ECM to intracellular proteins. The binding of α -subunit and ECM ligands such as fibronectin, fibrinogen and collagen results in conformation changes to high affinity. Then, integrin is clustered and leading to transmit information into cell [37, 38].



Figure 2.5 Activation of integrin [37]

The combination of inside-out and outside-in signaling control several cellular process such as cell polarity, cytoskeleton structure, gene expression, cell proliferation and cell survival [37].

The biological mechanism that control over-activity of integrin is the trafficking of integrin receptor. This mechanism is a process comprising of intracellular internalization and recycling pathways. There are three different types of endocytosis include Raft/caveolar endocytosis (RCE), clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) and pinocytic or macropinocytic mechanisms.

Integrin is internalized via RCE and CME pathways and then is proceeded to the early/late endosome. Briefly, integrin is internalized from the plasma membrane into internal membrane. After that, vesicles fuse with the early endosome and then integrin is recycled back to the cell surface or degraded in the late endosome or lysosome [39].

3.4 Integrin signaling during migration

In the role of migration, the affinity of individual integrin has different in strength of ECM-binding. Thereby, each combination of integrin displays a unique in migration capacity. The diversity of migration is regarded to integrin expression. For example, adhesion binding of fibronectin with $\alpha 5\beta 1$ are more dynamic than $\alpha v\beta 3$ which are associated with more persistent of migration in cancer cell [12].

Activation of integrin consequently stimulates several intracellular signaling pathways. These downstream pathways typically involve in activation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) protein, by recruit and engage of FAK protein to cytoplasmic domain of β -subunit. Activation of FAK protein subsequently results in phosphorylation and turn activates Rho family of GTPase including Rho, Rac and Cdc42 which mediated actin polymerization during migration [15, 40].

Focal adhesion kinase (FAK)

FAK is a focal adhesion-associated protein, encoded by PTK2 gene (protein tyrosine kinase). FAK act as essential early protein that co-localize with integrin on cytoplasmic domain and facilitate migration through transmit integrin signaling. FAK is recruited and activated by signaling from integrin. The major phosphorylation site of FAK is identified as tyrosine 397 (Tyr³⁹⁷).

In the migration aspect, after FAK protein was phosphorylated at active site, FAK form a complex with Src family kinase proteins, which generate multiple downstream signaling through phosphorylation of other adaptor proteins to regulate cell migration [15, 40].

The signaling of integrin through FAK protein has been shown to promote cell migration in various studies [40, 41]. For example, the over expression or activation of FAK signaling protein was found to be associated with migratory behavior of cancer cells. Moreover an increasing of FAK expression levels have also been correlated with invasive and metastatic potential in several human tumors [42, 43].



Figure 2.6 Role of integrin on cell migration

Rho GTPase family

Rho GTPase is a family of small signaling G proteins comprised of Rho, Rac and Cdc42. Rho GTPase acts as effector proteins of integrin which mediate many aspects of intracellular actin dynamics. Individual Rho GTPase has played the different role in rearrangement of actin cytoskeleton during the migration [15].

The activation of Rho (Rho-GTP) results in the formation of actin stress fiber and the assembly of focal adhesion, while activation of Cdc42 (Cdc42-GTP) is associated with the formation of filopodia, a slender cytoplasmic projection that extend beyond the leading edge. Activation of Rac (Rac-GTP) promotes membrane ruffling called lamellipodium, a characteristic phenotype of leading edge region that are dynamically alternating between adherent and non-adherent states [15, 44].



Figure 2.7 Rho GTPase family function [12]

3.5 Integrin and cancer aggressive

Over the last decade, there are many studies examine the association between integrin expression and cancer aggressiveness. Almost experiments exhibited, an increasing of integrin expression is always correlated with cancer poor prognosis. For example, over expression of α 6 integrin is reported to be associated with metastatic phenotype in human breast cancer [45], whereas integrin $\alpha \nu \beta$ 3 is required in bone metastasis of prostate cancer [46].

Table 2.1	Cancer-related	integrin	expressions	[31]

Tumor type	Integrin expression	Associated phenotypes
Melanoma	$\alpha\nu\beta3$ and $\alpha5\beta1$	Vertical growth phase and lymph node metastasis
Breast	$\alpha 6\beta 4$ and $\alpha v\beta 3$	Increased tumor size and grade, and decreased survival $(\alpha 6\beta 4)$. Increased bone metastasis $(\alpha v\beta 3)$
Prostates	ανβ3	Increased bone metastasis
Pancreatic	ανβ3	Lymph node metastasis
Ovarian	$\alpha 4\beta 1$ and $\alpha v\beta 3$	Increased peritoneal metastasis ($\alpha 4\beta 1$) and tumor proliferation ($\alpha v\beta 3$)
Cervical	$\alpha\nu\beta3$ and $\alpha\nu\beta6$	Decreased patient survival
Glioblastoma	$\alpha\nu\beta3$ and $\alpha\nu\beta5$	Both are expressed at the tumor–normal tissue margin and have a possible role in invasion
NSCLC	α5β1	Decreased survival in patients with lymph node-negative tumors
Colon	ανβ6	Reduced patient survival

Interestingly, the increasing of some certain integrin expression especially αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$, and $\beta 3$ are correlated with high aggressive and poor prognosis phenotype in human lung cancers. Each subunit was evidenced in promotion of cancer cell migration [18-21]. Therefore, expression of these subunits was investigated in this study.

4 Nitric oxide

4.1 Biological source of nitric oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) is a highly reactive free radical, which plays multifunction in physiological and pathological processes. NO is initially identified as a signaling molecule synthesized from the conversion of L-arginine into L-citrulline by a family of enzyme called nitric oxide synthase (NOS) in the presence of NADPH, oxygen and co-factors. NOS family consist of three isoforms including; neuronal NOS (nNOS), inducible NOS (iNOS) and endothelial NOS (eNOS). Because of nNOS and eNOS isoforms constantly generate NO upon physiological process, therefore nNOS and eNOS are referred as constitutive NOS (cNOS). In contrast, iNOS isoform is regulated and induced under pathological condition [47].



Figure 2.8 Synthesis of nitric oxide

4.2 Biological function of nitric oxide

Role of NO has been first described in the regulation of blood pressure and protection from cardiovascular diseases. By the time, NO have been demonstrated that include its role in immune system, nervous system, inflammation and cancer [48].

NO manifests its biological action mainly through cGMP signaling pathway and S-nitrosylation reaction. cGMP is a cyclic nucleotide which acts as a secondary messenger in several cellular processes such as vasodilation, regulation of mitochondrial function and biogenesis. NO is necessary to activate soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC) which converse of guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP) to cyclic guanosine 3',5'-monophosphate (cGMP) [49, 50]. Moreover, cGMP also activates cGMP-dependent protein kinase (PKG) and then trigger to activate AKT which plays a role in activation of cell migration [5].

S-nitrosylation is another major mechanism that NO mediates biological function. S-nitrosylation is a kind of post-translational proteins modification which produces covalent bond between nitrogen monoxide and thiol side chain of cysteine residue. The result of S-nitrosylation is changing in protein conformation lead to alteration of protein function [5, 49].



Figure 2.9 Biological action of nitric oxide [5]

4.3 Nitric oxide and cancer

Under normal physiological conditions, NO serves as a key signaling molecule in various functions such as smooth muscle relaxation, blood flow regulation, iron homeostasis, and platelet reactivity. On the other hand, excessive and uncontrolled NO production, an elevation of NO levels have been implicated as causal and contributing to pathological events such as infection, chronic inflammation and cancerous condition [51].

Clinical data has been shown that, an increasing of NO and its derivative is frequently detected in tumor tissues. Moreover the higher level of NO in exhaled breath of lung cancer patients is always correlated with advancing stage and poor clinical outcome [1]. There are strong evidences reported that, the increasing of NO levels which always found in cancer environment is concerned with up-regulation of iNOS in tumor sites [52, 53].

In addition, iNOS is widely presence in cancer cells and distinct neighboring cells such as tumor-associated endothelium, stromal fibroblast and immune cells. Moreover, not only cancer and supporting cells but also inflammatory cytokine such as interferon- γ , interleukin-1 β and tumor necrosis factor- α can induce iNOS activation

resulting in increasing of NO levels in tumor site approximately 1,000-fold to micromoles unit [5].



Figure 2.9 Production of nitric oxide in cancer cells [5]

According to clinical finding, in *vivo* study has demonstrated that, NO plays an essential role in promotion of cancer progression by induce cell migration, matrix degradation and angiogenesis [54]. Many interested-report indicated that, an elevation of NO in cancer environment can be increase tumor metastasis through various mechanism such as SRC protein, a key mediator molecules in regulation of migration and invasion can be activated by S-nitrosylation reaction at cysteine 498 (Cys⁴⁹⁸) resulting in enhance metastatic phenotype of cancer cells [55], NO also promotes cell motility by modulating the actin dynamic change through activated Rho GTPases family protein [56]. Moreover NO has been reported in promoting cell migration through activated PI3K/AKT pathway.

Now a day, NO also activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT) pathway which regulate multiple aspects of cellular function including migration and invasion. For example, NO enhanced endothelial cell migration and

invasion by activating of AKT signaling protein [57, 58]. Therefore, an activation of AKT may involve in alteration of integrin mediated cell migration.

Although the role of NO on migration has already been described but the effects of NO on integrin expression are remained unclear. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the effect of NO on integrin expression, migration capacity and the involved signaling in human lung cancer cell lines (H460, H292 and H23 cells). The expected benefit gain from this study may provide role of NO in regulation of lung cancer cell migration and integrin expression, which can help in development of novel anti-cancer strategy and better understanding in lung cancer biology.



จุฬาลงกรณีมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1 Cells cultures

Human lung cancer cell lines; NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H23 (Table 3.1) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection ATCC[®] (Manassas, VA, USA). Cells were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 units/ml of each penicillin and streptomycin (Gibco, MD, USA) at 37 °C with 5% CO2 in a humidified incubator. The medium was changed at an interval of 2-3days. At 70-80% confluence, the cells were rinsed with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and trypsinized by trypsin-EDTA.

	NCI-H460 cells	NCI-H292 cells	NCI-H23 cells
Organism	Homo sapiens	Homo sapiens	Homo sapiens
Tissue	Pleural effusion	Lymph node	Primary tumor
Morphology	Epithelial	Epithelial	Epithelial
Disease	Large cell carcinoma	Mucoepidermoid carcinoma (MEC)	Adenocarcinoma

Table 3.1: Human lung cancer cell line description

2 Reagents

NO donor; Dipropylenetriamine (DPTA) NONOate (Figure 3.1) was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazoliumbromide (MTT), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), Hoechst33342, propidium iodide (PI), phalloidin-rhodamine fluorescent dye were purchased from Sigma Chemical, Inc. (St. Louis, MO,USA). BCA protein assay kits were purchased from Pierce Biotechnology (Rockford, USA). Perifosine (Akt inhibitor reagent), FAK inhibitor14 (FAK inhibitor reagent) and antibodies for integrin αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$, $\beta 3$, PKG, p-Akt (Tyr308), Akt, p-FAK (Tyr397), FAK, β -actin and secondary antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA, USA). Antibodies for Rho-A GTP and Cdc42 were purchased from New-East Bioscience (King of Prussia, PA, USA). Chemiluminescence substrates were purchased from Supersignal West Pico; Pierce (Rockford, USA).



Figure 3.1 Dipropylenetriamine (DPTA) NONOate

3 Instruments

- Fluorescence microplate reader (Anthros, Durham, USA)
- Fluorescence microscope (Olympus IX51 with DP70, Japan)
- Automated cell counter (TC20TM Bio-Rad, Singapore)
- Auto-pipette 0.2-2 μl, 2-20 μl, 20-200 μl and 100-1,000 μl (Corning[®], USA)
- Cell culture plate: 6-well and 96-well (Corning[®], USA)
- Boyden chamber / transwell plate (BD Bioscience, USA)
- Centrifuge (CF-10 Wise spin®, Korea)
- Conical tube 15 ml and 50 ml (Corning[®], USA)
- Duran bottle 100 ml, 250 ml, 500 ml and 1000 ml (Mainz Germany)
- Laminar air flow cabinet (Boss tech, Thailand)
- Carbon dioxide humidified incubator (Thermo scientific, USA)
- pH meter (Mettler-Toledo, Switzerland)
- Vortex mixer (Bohemia, USA)

4 Cytotoxicity analysis

4.1 Cell viability assay

Cell viability was determined by MTT assay. Human lung cancer cell lines (H460, H292 and H23) were seeded at density 1.0×10^4 cells/well in 96-well plate, and then treated with DPTA NONOate at various concentrations (0-250 µM) for 24 h. After exposing to NO donor, cells were treated with MTT (400 µg/mL) and incubated for 4 h at 37°C. Then MTT supernatant solution was removed, and 100 µL of DMSO was added to dissolve formazan product. The optical density (OD) of formazan product was measured by spectrophotometer at 570 nm using microplate reader. The percentage cell viability was calculated as absorbance of NO-treated cells related to non-treated control as follow.

Percent cell viability	=	A570 of treatment group	x	100
		A570 of control group		

4.2 Apoptosis and necrosis evaluation assay

Human lung cancer cell lines (H460, H292, H23 cells) were seeded on 96-well plate at a density 1.0 x 104 cells/well and incubated overnight, and then cells were treated with DPTA NONOate (0-100 μ M) for 24 h. After NO exposure, cells were rinsed with phosphate-buffers saline (PBS) and incubated with 10 μ g/mL Hoechst 33342 and 5 μ g/mL propidium iodide (PI) for 30 min. Nuclear condensation and DNA fragmentation of apoptotic cells and PI-positive of necrotic cells were visualized and scored under fluorescence microscope.

5 Proliferation analysis

Human lung cancer cell lines (H460, H292 and H23) were seeded at a density 2.0 x 103 cells/well overnight. After attachment, cells were exposed to NO donor at

various concentrations (0-100 $\mu\text{M})$ for 24 h and were subjected to proliferation assay at 0, 24 and 48 h.

Proliferative rate was measured through incubation with MTT (400 µg/mL) for 4 h and dissolved crystal formazan product with absolute DMSO. Relative proliferation was calculated by comparing the absorbance of formazan product at 570 nm using microplate reader compare to non-treated control cells.

6 Cell migration analysis

6.1 Wound-healing migration assay

Human lung cancer cells lines (H460, H292 and H23) were seeded on 96-well plate at a density 3x10⁴ cells/well and incubated with non-toxic concentration of NO donor for 24 h. After exposing to NO, the monolayer cells (95% confluence) were allowed to migrate by scratched with a P200 micropipette tip to make wound scrape. Detached cells were removed by rinsing once with PBS and replaced with RPMI complete medium.

At the indicated times (0, 12 and 24 h), Phase contrast images of wound space were captured under microscope (20X) and the wound spaces were measured using Olympus DP controller software. Relative cell migration was calculated by dividing the percent change in the space of the NO-treated cells by that one of nontreated control in each experiment as follow.

% change of space	=	(Space at time 0) – (Space at time 12 or 24) × 100	
		(Space at time 0)	
Relative migration	=	Percent change of treatment group	
		Percent change of control group	

6.2 Trans-well migration assay

After NO treatment with non-toxic concentration for 24 h, trans-well migration assays were performed using a Boyden chamber plate. H460 cells were trypsinized and seeded at a density 3.0 x 104 cells/well in the upper chamber unit with RPMI serum free condition, while RPMI complete medium containing 10% FBS was added to the lower chamber unit.

After incubation for 24 h at 37 °C, non-penetrated cells on the top chamber were gently removed with cotton swab and migrated cells in the lower chamber unit were fixed with cold absolute methanol for 10 min and stained with 10 μ g/ml of Hoechst33342 for 10 min. The migrating cells were visualized and scored under a fluorescence microscope.

Relative migration	=	Number of migrated cell in treatment group
		Number of migrated cell in control group

7 Cell morphological characterization assay

The cell morphology of NCI-H460 was investigated using phalloidin-rhodamine staining assay. After exposing to non-toxic concentration of NO, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS at room temperature for 10 min and permeabilized membrane with 0.1% Triton-X 100 in PBS for 5 min, then rinsed cells with PBS and blocked for unspecific binding by incubation with 0.2% BSA in PBS for 30 min. Fixed cells were incubated with 1:100 dilution of phalloidin-rhodamine fluorescent dye in PBS for 30 min, then were rinsed with PBS three times and mounted with 50% glycerol in PBS. The cell morphology images of actin or stress fiber were visualized under fluorescence emitting light.
8 Western blot analysis

Cellular lysates were prepared using incubation with lysis buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 1% Triton X-100, 150 mM sodium chloride, 10% glycerol, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 50 mM sodium fluoride, 100 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride and protease inhibitor cocktail for 30 mins on ice.

Cellular lysates were collected and determined for protein content using the BCA protein assay kit. Equal amounts of protein from each sample were resolved by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). After separation, proteins were transferred onto 0.45 µm nitrocellulose membranes. The membrane blots were blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk in TBST (Tris-buffer saline with 0.1% Tween containing 25 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 125 mM NaCl, and 0.1% Tween 20) for 1 h and incubated with the appropriate primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight.

After three washes with TBST, membrane blots were incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies for 2 h at room temperature. Immune blots were detected by enhanced with chemi-luminescence substrate and quantified using analyst/PC densitometry software.

จหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

9 Statistical analysis

The data values from three or more independent experiments were presented as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Multiple comparisons were examined for significant difference of multiple groups, using analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by individual comparisons with Scheffe's post-hoc test. Statistical significance was considered at p < 0.05

10 Conceptual framework



Figure 3.2 Conceptual framework

11 Experimental design



Figure 3.3 Experimental design

Part I Cytotoxic effects of nitric oxide on human lung cancer cell lines

Cytotoxicity of NO on human lung cancer cell lines

To determine the optimum concentrations of NO that cause no cytotoxic effect on human lung cancer cell lines (NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H23), percent cell viability was evaluated by MTT assay. Initially, cells were treated with DPTA NONOate at wide range concentrations (0-250 μ M) for 24 h. After NO treatment, percent of cell viability were determined by MTT colorimetric assay.

Mode of cell death in response to NO treatment

To confirm the previous MTT results, mode of cell death in response to NO treatment were determined Hoechest 33342/PI nuclear co-staining assay. H460 cells were seed treated with DPTA NONOate (0-100 μ M) for 24 h then mode of cell death were determined by apoptosis and necrosis evaluation assay. Non-toxic concentrations were referred to percent viability not less than 80% and will be selected to further experiments.



Figure 3.4 Diagram of cytotoxic test

Proliferative effect of NO on human lung cancer cell lines

In order to eradicate the proliferative effect of NO which able to interfere in migration activity, H460, H292 and H23 cells were treated with DPTA NONOate at various concentrations (0-100 μ M) for 24 h. After exposed to NO, percent of cell proliferations in all tested-cell were detected by MTT colorimetric assay at indicated time point (0, 24 and 48h).

The appropriate concentration should be non-significant in stimulation and/or inhibition of proliferative effect compare to non-treated control. Non-proliferative doses would be taken to migration assay and other migratory characteristic.



Figure 3.5 Diagram of proliferative test

28

Part II Migratory characterization in response of NO treatment

The effect of NO on human lung cancer cell migration

An elevation of metastasis rate in lung cancer has been reported in the NO rich environment [54, 57]. Migration capacities were investigated in response to NO treatment. Briefly, a monolayer of cells was cultured at density 3.0×10^4 cells/well, and cells were treated with non-toxic concentrations of DPTA NONOate for 24 h.

Migration capacity was determined by wound healing migration assay and transwell migration assay which represent the collective cell migration and single cell migration respectively. Relative cell migration was calculated by dividing NOtreatment group compare to non-treated control.



Figure 3.6 Diagram of migration evaluation

The effect of NO on cell morphology and filopodia formation

Regarding cell morphology and filopodia formation has been shown to play an essential role upon cellular movement. The evidence also support that, cellular filopodia which are regulated by a family Rho GTPase proteins generates by actin polymerization and rearrangement of actin stress fiber in the protrusion edge [59]. Therefore, to investigate the effect of NO on filopodia formation, H460 cells were treated with non-toxic concentration of NO for 24 h, and the presence of filopodia was determined by using a phalloidin-rhodamine staining assay. The numbers of filopodia per cell were counted under the fluorescent microscope.



Figure 3.7 Diagram of cell morphology evaluation

The effect of NO on integrin expression

Switching of integrin expression patterns is explained as the central role in migration model. There are previous studies have shown that activation of integrin αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$ and $\beta 3$ are able to enhance motility in cancer cells [18-21]. This study also hypothesized of these integrins may be involved in NO mediated lung cancer cell migration.

Human lung cancer cell lines (NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H23) were seeded at density 1.5×10^5 cells/well in a 6-well plate then cells were treated with non-toxic concentration of NO for 24 h. After NO treatment, the correlation of integrin expression and migration potency were investigated, this study examines the integrin expression levels by western blot analysis. β -actin was used as a loading control of each treatment.



Figure 3.8 Diagram of integrin expression determination



Part III Mechanisms of NO which mediated lung cancer cell migration and

alteration of integrin expression

Integrin mediated cell migration has been described through activation of downstream signaling protein such as FAK and a Rho GTPase of small G protein family. Thus, identification of some specific signaling proteins that conforming to integrin expression could be explained for a regulatory mechanism of integrin expression and migration behavior in NO-treated cells.

The effect of NO on signaling proteins

In order to determine NO regulating cascade, downstream signaling proteins which regulate migration activity as well as integrin were investigated. Western blot analysis was used for detection of involved-signaling protein including PKG, AKT, FAK and small G proteins after NO treatment.



Figure 3.9 Diagram of signaling protein determination

Involvement of AKT in regulation of integrin expression and migration

Since NO has been reported in promotion of cancer cell migration and invasion through activation of AKT signaling pathway [57]. Meanwhile, there is a study reported that AKT regulated integrin which associated to migration [60]. Thus, we also hypothesized that AKT may alter integrin expression. Therefore, to investigate role of AKT on integrin expression, AKT inhibitor (5 μ M Perifosine) were applied in NO treated-cells. Briefly, cells were seeded in 6-well plate at density 1.5 x 10⁵ cells/well. Then, cells were treated with NO alone or combination with AKT inhibitor. After indicated treatment integrin (α v, α 5, β 1 and β 3) and related proteins including PKG, AKT and FAK were determined by western blotting.

Involvement of FAK in regulation of integrin expression and migration

In order to confirm the role of FAK protein in regulation of migration and integrin expression, FAK inhibitor (10 μ M FAK inhibitor14) were applied in NO treatedcells. Initially H460 cells were seeded in 6-well plate at density 1.5 x 10⁵ cells/well, then cells were treated with NO alone or combination with FAK inhibitor at indicated concentration. After treatment for 24 h, integrin (αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$ and $\beta 3$) and related proteins including PKG, AKT and FAK were determined by western blot analysis.



Figure 3.10 Diagram of regulatory cascade identification

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Part I Cytotoxic effects of nitric oxide on human lung cancer cell lines

Cytotoxicity of NO on human lung cancer cell lines

In order to study the effect of NO on cell susceptibility to apoptosis and/or necrosis, this study first characterized the effect of NO on cell viability in all-tested cells (NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H23). MTT colorimetric assay and apoptosis and necrosis assay were used to evaluate cytotoxic effect and mode of cell death in NOtreated cells.

Cell viability of human lung cancer cells was characterized. Cells were treated various concentrations of NO donor DPTA NONOate (0-250 μ M) for 24 h and cell viability was determined by MTT colorimetric assay. Figure 4.1 show that NO donor at the concentrations of 0-50 μ M had neither cytotoxic nor proliferative effects on NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H233 cells. A significant decrease in cell viability was first detected in NO-treated with NO donor at the concentration 100 μ M.

หาลงกรณมหาวทยาลัย

Mode of cell death in response of NO treatment

To confirm non-cytotoxic concentration of NO, apoptotic and necrotic cell deaths in such pre-treatment were determined by Hoechst 33342/PI co-staining assay. The results revealed that, the appearance of cell death was not detected in H460 cell that pre-treated with NO donor 0-50 μ M for 24 h, whereas NO donor at 100 μ M significantly increased the apoptotic and necrotic cells in comparison to non-treated control.







H460 cells



100





DPTA NONOate (uM)



Figure 4.1 Cytotoxic effect of NO on human lung cancer cell lines (H460, H292 and H23 cells). Cells were treated with DPTA NONOate for 24 h. (A) Cell viability was determined by MTT assay. (B) Nuclear morphology was obtained from Hoechest 33342/PI staining assay. (C) Percentage of apoptotic and necrotic nuclei was analyzed. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 versus non-treated control.

Effects of NO on cell proliferation in human lung cancer cell lines

In order to obtain the appropriated concentrations of NO, proliferative effect which may interfere in migration capacity should be eradicated before characterized the migration activity. The optimum concentration of NO should be non-significant in stimulation and/or inhibition of cell growth compare to non-treated control. NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H23 cells were pre-treated with DPTA NONOate at various concentrations (0-100 μ M) for 24 h. After exposed to NO, relative proliferations of all tested cells were evaluated by MTT colorimetric assay at indicated time point (0, 24, and 48 h).

The results indicated that, at 24 and 48 h after exposed to NO, pre-treatment of all type cell lines with 25 and 50 μ M of DPTA NONOate had no significant on cell growth and survival compared non-treated control. However, pre-treatment of cells with higher concentration (100 μ M) caused a significant reduction in cell survival as show in Figure 4.2. Furthermore, from previous Hoechest 33342 and PI co-staining results also supported that, the high concentration of NO donor (100 μ M) was induced toxicity to cell. An increasing of both apoptosis and necrosis cell death were initially found at 100 μ M of DPTA NONOate treatment.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 4.2 Proliferative effect of NO on human lung cancer cell lines (H460, H292 and H23). Cells were treated with DPTA NONOate (0-100 μ M) for 24 h. Relative proliferation was determined by MTT assay at indicated time point. * p < 0.05 versus non-treated control.

Part II Migratory characterization in NO treatment

Effect of NO on cell migration in human lung cancer cell lines

Wound healing assays and transwell migration assays were performed to determine the effect of NO on lung cancer cell migration.

Wound healing migration

For wound healing assay, lung cancer cell lines (NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H23 cells) were exposed to non-toxic concentrations of NO donor (0-50 μ M) for 24 h, cells were subjected to wound healing assay, and allowed to migrate for 0-24 h. Figure 4.3 shown that, NO treatment significantly enhanced the motility of all lung cancer cells in a dose-dependent manner.

Transwell migration

Likewise, the transwell migration results further confirmed that NO increased migration activity in all tested cells. The migrated cells which penetrated through filter membrane to the lower chamber side after treatment with NO for 24 h. Figure 4.4 exhibited, relative cell migration of NCI-H460, NCI-H292 and NCI-H23 cells was found to be significant increase in response to NO in a dose-dependent manner. The significant values could be first observed in 10, 25, and 25 μ M DPTA treated H460, H292, and H23 cells respectively.

Taken together, these results indicated that NO enhanced migratory behavior in all human lung cancer cell lines, however, susceptibility of each cell type may be vary due to variation in cell biology.











Figure 4.3 NO enhanced monolayer wound healing. Human lung cancer cell lines were pre-treated with NO donor (0-50 uM) for 24 h, then were subjected to wound healing migration assay. (A) Phase-contrast images were captured at 0, 12 and 24 h. (B) Relative migration was determined by comparing wound space to non-treated control. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 versus non-treated control.

(A)



Figure 4.4 NO enhanced human lung cancer cell migration. Cells were pre-treated DPTA NONOate (0-50 uM) for 24 h. After treatment, transwell migration assay was performed using Boyden chamber. (A) Migrated-cells in lower chamber compartment were stained with Hoechst 33342 and visualized under fluorescence microscope. (B) Relative migration was determined by comparing to non-treated control. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 versus non-treated control.

(B)

Effect of NO on cell morphology and filopodia formation

Filopodia was shown to play an essential role in cellular movement and used as an indicator for highly motile cells. Importantly, filopodia at the protrusion areas, i.e., the fronts of the cells, have been found to contain integrins and other molecules facilitating anchorage formation [59, 61].

To test whether NO could mediate filopodia formation, H460 cells were treated with NO donor as previously described, and the presence of filopodia was determined using a Phalloidin-Rhodamine staining method. Figure 4.5 indicated that NO-treated cells exhibited significant increase in filopodia number at the protrusion edge of cells.

In addition, this study also confirmed the effect of NO on cell migration by assessing migration regulatory proteins. Human lung cancer cell lines were treated with NO donor and cellular levels of Rho-GTP, Rac-GTP, and Cdc42-GTP were determined by western blot analysis. Results revealed that treatment of the cells with NO caused the significant increase of Rho-GTP and Cdc42-GTP; however, Rac-GTP was found to be slightly decreased (figure 4.6).

> จุฬาลงกรณิมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

(A)

(B)



Figure 4.5 NO induced filopodia formation. H460 cells were treated with NO donor (0-50 uM DPTA NONOate) for 24 h. After treatment, cells were fixed with paraformaldehyde and stained with phalloidin-rhodamine fluorescent dye. (A) The actin filaments and stress fibers were visualized under microscope. (B) The number of filopodia per cell was analyzed and compared to non-treated control. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 versus non-treated control.

(A)









DPTA NONOate (µM)





(B)

Relative protein level

Relative protein level

Relative protein level

Effect of NO on integrin expression

Switching of integrin was accepted as a determining factor of cell motility [12, 17, 62]. In particular, the increase of specific integrins including αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$ and $\beta 3$ was shown to enhance motility in cancer cells [18-21]. Therefore, we next investigate the effect of NO on integrin expression. Lung cancer H460, H292 and H23 cells were cultured in the presence of NO donor (0-50 μ M) for 24 h, and the expression of integrins αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$, and $\beta 3$ was determined by western blotting.

Figure 4.7 shows that, NO treatment caused a dramatic increase in the expression of integrins αv and $\beta 1$ in all type of human lung cancer cell lines, while integrin $\beta 3$ was found to be slightly increased in H292 and H23 cells. NO treatment has no significant effect on integrin $\alpha 5$. Having mentioned that the augmented of specific integrins, especially αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$ and $\beta 3$ associated with high migratory activity, this study has provided new information that NO induces migration of lung cancer cells, at least in part, through integrin shift toward increasing of integrins αv and $\beta 1$.







(A)





Part III Mechanism of NO which mediated human lung cancer cell migration and integrin expression

The effect of NO on regulatory proteins

Active PKG is known to act as a target of cGMP induced by NO [49]. Also, AKT has been shown to act as a downstream phosphorylation targets of PKG [63]. In order to unravel the mechanism by which NO regulated integrin expressions, the increasing of PKG level and activation of AKT, and FAK in response to NO treatment was assessed in NSCLC-derived H460, H292, and H23 cells.

The results of western blot analysis revealed that, the treatment of human lung cancer cell lines with non-toxic concentration of NO significantly increased active PKG and proportion of p-AKT/AKT and p-FAK/FAK in a dose-dependent manner in all tested-cells (Figure 4.8).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY













(B)

Involvement of AKT and FAK protein in regulation of integrin expression and migration

AKT and FAK signaling proteins were shown as a key mediator molecules in regulation of integrins expression [40, 64, 65], thus AKT and FAK inhibitors were next used for evaluating the underlying mechanism. In order to clarify the involved-mechanism, AKT inhibitor (5 μ M perifosine) was applied to test whether integrins α v and β 1 is upregulated in response to AKT activation.

The results indicated that, treatment of the cells with NO significantly increase both integrin αv and $\beta 1$. AKT inhibitor inhibited the activation of AKT mediated by NO. Interestingly, AKT inhibitor diminished the effect of NO on integrins αv and $\beta 1$ induction, suggesting that NO mediated these integrin alteration via AKT-dependent mechanism (Figure 4.9). It is worth noting that treatment of the cells with AKT inhibitor also diminish the effect of NO on FAK activation, implying that the FAK signaling in our condition was mediated through AKT-dependent mechanism. In addition, AKT inhibitor was shown to abolish the migration enhancing effect of NO treatment.

For FAK signaling, while FAK inhibitor (10 μ M FAK inhibitor14) significantly suppressed FAK in the cells, it had no significant effect on NO-mediated integrin switch (Figure 4.10). Also, the activation of AKT in response to NO was found to be not affected by FAK inhibitor. Interestingly, FAK inhibitor significantly decreased the migratory response of the cells to NO.

Taken together, our results indicated that NO mediated integrin induction through AKT-dependent mean and FAK is a downstream executer for NO/PKG/AKT cascade in controlling cancer cell migration.







(D)



Figure 4.9 NO mediated integrin switch and enhanced cell migration via AKT dependent mechanism. H460 cells were treated with or without DPTA NONOate (25 μ M) and AKT inhibitor (5 μ M Perifosine) for 24 h. After treatment, (A) the expression levels of integrin and related proteins were determined by western blot. (B) Relative protein levels were quantified by densitometry. (C) Phase contrast images of wound healing were captured at 0, 12 and 24 h. (D) Relative migration was determined by comparing to control. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 versus non-treated control.



(B)



(A)



Figure 4.10 Integrin signaling mediated cell migration through FAK protein. H460 cells were treated with or without DPTA NONOate (25 μ M) and FAK inhibitor (10 μ M FAK inhibitor14) for 24 h. After treatment, (A) the expression levels of integrin αv , $\alpha 5$, $\beta 1$, $\beta 3$ and related proteins were determined by western blot. (B) Relative protein levels were quantified by densitometry. (C) Phase contrast images of wound healing were captured at 0, 12 and 24 h. (D) Relative migration was determined by comparing to control. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 versus non-treated control, **#** p < 0.05 versus NO-treated control.

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

It is well accepted that an elevation of NO level in cancer tissue is the dominant cause of cancer metastasis. In this study demonstrated that NO, an important endogenous gas, functions as integrins modulator in human lung cancer cells. The results from PKG, a known downstream molecular target of NO signal suggest that, the increasing of integrins α v and β 1 augments the migratory activity of H460, H292, and H23 cells via the AKT activation.

NO is synthesized through the function of NOS enzyme, which was found abundantly in the lung cancer tissue [52]. Besides, the immune cells locate around tumor site are responsible for the high level of NO in cancer microenvironment [66]. As lung cancer is a leading cause of cancer-related death [67], identification of biological molecules that potentiate this cancer aggressiveness as well as metastasis is of very interest and may lead to novel strategies that improve the outcome of treatment. Certain studies have indicated that NO is cytotoxic to the cancer cells. NO was shown to directly induced oxidative stress and DNA damage signal that resulted in cell apoptosis [68]. However, more recent studies have shown that NO at physiological or relatively low level is not only non-cytotoxic, but also potentiate cellular functions [69]. In terms of cancer, NO was shown to attenuate response of the lung cancer cells to cisplatin [70, 71] and Fas ligand-induced apoptosis [72]. Besides, NO was shown to mediate anoikis resistance through Caveolin-1 upregulation [7, 73]. As integrin switch or alteration of integrin pattern on the surface of cancer cells have intensively shown to positively influence migration and invasion behaviors of the cells [15, 17].

Integrins are a family of transmembrane glycoprotein receptors transmitting the signals from ECM to intracellular pathways. Their functions regulate a number of
cellular processes including survival, proliferation, adhesion and motility [12, 62]. Certain integrins including integrin α v and β 1 were shown to potentiate motility of cells [19, 21, 74]. Consistent with our finding, the increase of such integrins mediated by NO treatment was well correlated with the increase in cell migration.

In light of its importance in both cell migration and proliferation control, AKT is pointed to as a critical target for anticancer therapy. AKT signal was linked to the chemotherapeutic resistance and potentiated cancer metastasis [75]. In lung cancer, PI3K pathway, an up-stream signal of AKT, is frequently deregulated due to genetic instability resulting in increased PI3K and AKT signals [76]. Enhanced activation of AKT has been found in NSCLC cells, and was shown to correlate with chemotherapeutic and radio resistance [77]. In addition, activated AKT in primary NSCLC tumors was suggested as a poor prognostic factor [75].

In addition to those contexts, this study has provided important evidence indicating that the alteration of integrins induced by NO was depended on AKT status. Treatment of the lung cancer cells with NO caused the activation of PKG which further activated AKT. The specific inhibitor of AKT suppressed the NOmediated integrin change in these lung cancer cells, pointing out the importance of AKT pathway in regulation of integrin expression.

Upon cell motility, FAK in the area of cellular protrusion is activated by phosphorylation at Tyr 397 position. The active p-FAK stimulates the down-stream pathways resulting in actin polymerization and filopodia formation [78]. Several GTPase have been characterized to regulate cytoskeleton dynamics in migration response. Cdc42-GTP promotes filopodia formation and extended forward protrusion. Likewise, Rho-GTP regulates stress fiber accumulation and controls rearward contraction. Rac-GTP regulates actin rearrangement and induces lamellipodia formation [44]. In this study, we observed the involvement of these GTPase signals and found that Cdc42-GTP and Rho-GTP were significantly increased in NO-treated cells. Consistent with the previous findings, the up regulation of Cdc42-GTP in NOtreated cells correlated with the increase of filopodia formation.

In closing, we show here for the first time the function of NO in inducing integrins α v and β 1 in human lung cancer cells and identify a mechanism involving PKG/AKT. As integrin switch has been shown to correlate with chemotherapeutic resistance, enhanced metastasis potentials, and poor prognosis in many cancers, the findings from the present study may help fulfill the knowledge involving role of NO on aggressiveness of lung cancer, at least in part, through integrin regulation.



Figure 5.1 Schematic overview of nitric oxide mediates integrin switch via AKTdependent mechanism. Nitric oxide increase p-AKT which stimulate the upregulation of integrin α v and β 1. The high level of certain integrin recruits and activates FAK to mediate effector molecules such Cdc42-GTP and Rho-GTP, thus promote migratory process.

REFERENCES



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

- Wang, C., C. Liu, H. Lin, C. Yu, K. Chung, and H. Kuo. Increased exhaled nitric oxide in active pulmonary tuberculosis due to inducible NO synthase upregulation in alveolar macrophages. European Respiratory Journal, 1998. 11(4): p. 809-815.
- 2. Loscalzo, J. and G. Welch. Nitric oxide and its role in the cardiovascular system. **Progress in cardiovascular diseases**, 1995. 38(2): p. 87-104.
- 3. Bredt, D.S. and S.H. Snyder. Nitric oxide, a novel neuronal messenger. **Neuron**, 1992. 8(1): p. 3-11.
- Gallo, O., I. Fini-Storchi, W.A. Vergari, E. Masini, L. Morbidelli, M. Ziche, and A. Franchi. Role of nitric oxide in angiogenesis and tumor progression in head and neck cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 1998. 90(8): p. 587-596.
- 5. Fukumura, D., S. Kashiwagi, and R.K. Jain. The role of nitric oxide in tumour progression. **Nature Reviews Cancer**, 2006. 6(7): p. 521-534.
- Klimp, A., E. De Vries, G. Scherphof, and T. Daemen. A potential role of macrophage activation in the treatment of cancer. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology, 2002. 44(2): p. 143-161.
- Chanvorachote, P., U. Nimmannit, Y. Lu, S. Talbott, B.-H. Jiang, and Y. Rojanasakul. Nitric oxide regulates lung carcinoma cell anoikis through inhibition of ubiquitin-proteasomal degradation of caveolin-1. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2009. 284(41): p. 28476-28484.
- Ambs, S., W.G. Merriam, W.P. Bennett, E. Felley-Bosco, M.O. Ogunfusika, S.M. Oser, S. Klein, P.G. Shields, T.R. Billiar, and C.C. Harris. Frequent nitric oxide synthase-2 expression in human colon adenomas: implication for tumor angiogenesis and colon cancer progression. Cancer Research, 1998. 58(2): p. 334-341.
- Dueñas-Gonzalez, A., C.M. Isales, A.-H.M. del Mar, R. Gonzalez-Sarmiento, O. Sangueza, and J. Rodriguez-Commes. Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in breast cancer correlates with metastatic disease. Modern pathology: an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc, 1997. 10(7): p. 645-649.

- Cobbs, C.S., J.E. Brenman, K.D. Aldape, D.S. Bredt, and M.A. Israel. Expression of nitric oxide synthase in human central nervous system tumors. Cancer Research, 1995. 55(4): p. 727-730.
- Thomsen, L.L., F.G. Lawton, R.G. Knowles, J.E. Beesley, V. Riveros-Moreno, and S. Moncada. Nitric oxide synthase activity in human gynecological cancer.
 Cancer Research, 1994. 54(5): p. 1352-1354.
- Huttenlocher, A. and A.R. Horwitz. Integrins in cell migration. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2011. 3(9): p. a005074.
- 13. Stupack, D.G. and D.A. Cheresh. Get a ligand, get a life: integrins, signaling and cell survival. Journal of cell science, 2002. 115(19): p. 3729-3738.
- 14. Holly, S.P., M.K. Larson, and L.V. Parise. Multiple roles of integrins in cell motility. **Experimental cell research**, 2000. 261(1): p. 69-74.
- Hood, J.D. and D.A. Cheresh. Role of integrins in cell invasion and migration.
 Nature Reviews Cancer, 2002. 2(2): p. 91-100.
- 16. Huveneers, S. and E.H. Danen. Adhesion signaling–crosstalk between integrins, Src and Rho. Journal of cell science, 2009. 122(8): p. 1059-1069.
- 17. Truong, H. and E.H. Danen. Integrin switching modulates adhesion dynamics and cell migration. **Cell adhesion & migration**, 2009. 3(2): p. 179-181.
- Hosotani, R., M. Kawaguchi, T. Masui, T. Koshiba, J. Ida, K. Fujimoto, M. Wada,
 R. Doi, and M. Imamura. Expression of integrin **α**vβ3 in pancreatic carcinoma:
 relation to MMP-2 activation and lymph node metastasis. Pancreas, 2002.
 25(2): p. e30-e35.
- Wong, N.C., B.M. Mueller, C.F. Barbas, P. Ruminski, V. Quaranta, E.C. Lin, and J.W. Smith. **Q**v integrins mediate adhesion and migration of breast carcinoma cell lines. Clinical & experimental metastasis, 1998. 16(1): p. 50-61.
- 20. Caswell, P.T., H.J. Spence, M. Parsons, D.P. White, K. Clark, K.W. Cheng, G.B. Mills, M.J. Humphries, A.J. Messent, and K.I. Anderson. Rab25 associates with $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrin to promote invasive migration in 3D microenvironments. Developmental cell, 2007. 13(4): p. 496-510.

- 21. Wang, D., S. Müller, A.R. Amin, D. Huang, L. Su, Z. Hu, M.A. Rahman, S. Nannapaneni, L. Koenig, and Z. Chen. The pivotal role of integrin β 1 in metastasis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clinical Cancer Research, 2012. 18(17): p. 4589-4599.
- Molina, J.R., P. Yang, S.D. Cassivi, S.E. Schild, and A.A. Adjei. Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, Treatment, and Survivorship. Mayo Clinic proceedings. Mayo Clinic, 2008. 83(5): p. 584-594.
- Lemjabbar-Alaoui, H., O.U.I. Hassan, Y.-W. Yang, and P. Buchanan. Lung cancer: Biology and treatment options. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Reviews on Cancer, 2015. 1856(2): p. 189-210.
- 24. Mina, L.A. and G.W. Sledge. Rethinking the metastatic cascade as a therapeutic target. Nature reviews Clinical oncology, 2011. 8(6): p. 325-332.
- Bravo-Cordero, J.J., L. Hodgson, and J. Condeelis. Directed cell invasion and migration during metastasis. Current opinion in cell biology, 2012. 24(2): p. 277-283.
- 26. Friedl, P. and K. Wolf. Plasticity of cell migration: a multiscale tuning model.The Journal of cell biology, 2010. 188(1): p. 11-19.
- 27. Wolf, K. and P. Friedl. Extracellular matrix determinants of proteolytic and non-proteolytic cell migration. **Trends in cell biology**, 2011. 21(12): p. 736-744.
- Polacheck, W.J., I.K. Zervantonakis, and R.D. Kamm. Tumor cell migration in complex microenvironments. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2013. 70(8): p. 1335-1356.
- Chaffer, C.L. and R.A. Weinberg. A perspective on cancer cell metastasis.
 Science, 2011. 331(6024): p. 1559-1564.
- 30. Cox, D., M. Brennan, and N. Moran. Integrins as therapeutic targets: lessons and opportunities. **Nature reviews Drug discovery**, 2010. 9(10): p. 804-820.
- 31. Desgrosellier, J.S. and D.A. Cheresh. Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. **Nature Reviews Cancer**, 2010. 10(1): p. 9-22.
- 32. Jin, H. and J. Varner. Integrins: roles in cancer development and as treatment targets. **British journal of cancer**, 2004. 90(3): p. 561-565.

- 33. Brooks, P.C., S. Strömblad, L.C. Sanders, T.L. von Schalscha, R.T. Aimes, W.G. Stetler-Stevenson, J.P. Quigley, and D.A. Cheresh. Localization of matrix metalloproteinase MMP-2 to the surface of invasive cells by interaction with integrin $\mathbf{\alpha}_{v}\mathbf{\beta}_{3}$. Cell, 1996. 85(5): p. 683-693.
- Deryugina, E.I., M.A. Bourdon, G.-X. Luo, R.A. Reisfeld, and A. Strongin. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 activation modulates glioma cell migration. Journal of cell science, 1997. 110(19): p. 2473-2482.
- Paoli, P., E. Giannoni, and P. Chiarugi. Anoikis molecular pathways and its role in cancer progression. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research, 2013. 1833(12): p. 3481-3498.
- Schwartz, M.A. and R.K. Assoian. Integrins and cell proliferation regulation of cyclin-dependent kinases via cytoplasmic signaling pathways. Journal of cell science, 2001. 114(14): p. 2553-2560.
- Shattil, S.J., C. Kim, and M.H. Ginsberg. The final steps of integrin activation: the end game. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 2010. 11(4): p. 288-300.
- Banno, A. and M.H. Ginsberg. Integrin activation. Biochemical Society Transactions, 2008. 36(2): p. 229-234.
- 39. Ramsay, A.G., J.F. Marshall, and I.R. Hart. Integrin trafficking and its role in cancer metastasis. **Cancer and Metastasis Reviews**, 2007. 26(3-4): p. 567-578.
- 40. Sieg, D.J., C.R. Hauck, D. Ilic, C.K. Klingbeil, E. Schaefer, C.H. Damsky, and D.D. Schlaepfer. FAK integrates growth-factor and integrin signals to promote cell migration. **Nature cell biology**, 2000. 2(5): p. 249-256.
- 41. Fong, Y.-C., S.-C. Liu, C.-Y. Huang, T.-M. Li, S.-F. Hsu, S.-T. Kao, F.-J. Tsai, W.-C. Chen, C.-Y. Chen, and C.-H. Tang. Osteopontin increases lung cancer cells migration via activation of the $\alpha \sqrt{\beta}$ 3 integrin/FAK/Akt and NF-**K**B-dependent pathway. Lung cancer, 2009. 64(3): p. 263-270.
- 42. Gates, R.E., L.E. King Jr, S.K. Hanks, and L.B. Nanney. Potential role for focal adhesion kinase in migrating and proliferating keratinocytes near epidermal

wounds and in culture. Cell Growth and Differentiation-Publication American Association for Cancer Research, 1994. 5(8): p. 891-900.

- 43. Weiner, T.M., R. Craven, W. Cance, and E. Liu. Expression of focal adhesion kinase gene and invasive cancer. **The Lancet**, 1993. 342(8878): p. 1024-1025.
- 44. Mayor, R. and C. Carmona-Fontaine. Keeping in touch with contact inhibition of locomotion. **Trends in cell biology**, 2010. 20(6): p. 319-328.
- 45. Mukhopadhyay, R., R.L. Theriault, and J.E. Price. Increased levels of **Q**6 integrins are associated with the metastatic phenotype of human breast cancer cells. **Clinical & experimental metastasis**, 1999. 17(4): p. 323-330.
- 46. McCabe, N., S. De, A. Vasanji, J. Brainard, and T. Byzova. Prostate cancer specific integrin $\alpha_{V}\beta_{3}$ modulates bone metastatic growth and tissue remodeling. **Oncogene**, 2007. 26(42): p. 6238-6243.
- 47. Nathan, C. and Q.-w. Xie. Nitric oxide synthases: roles, tolls, and controls.Cell, 1994. 78(6): p. 915-918.
- Rosselli, M., R. Keller, and R.K. Dubey. Role of nitric oxide in the biology, physiology and pathophysiology of reproduction. Human Reproduction Update, 1998. 4(1): p. 3-24.
- 49. Denninger, J.W. and M.A. Marletta. Guanylate cyclase and the NO/cGMP signaling pathway. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics, 1999.
 1411(2): p. 334-350.
- 50. Francis, S.H., J.L. Busch, and J.D. Corbin. cGMP-dependent protein kinases and cGMP phosphodiesterases in nitric oxide and cGMP action. **Pharmacological reviews**, 2010. 62(3): p. 525-563.
- 51. Choudhari, S.K., M. Chaudhary, S. Bagde, A.R. Gadbail, and V. Joshi. Nitric oxide and cancer: a review. World journal of surgical oncology, 2013. 11(1): p. 1.
- 52. Lala, P.K. and C. Chakraborty. Role of nitric oxide in carcinogenesis and tumour progression. **The lancet oncology**, 2001. 2(3): p. 149-156.
- Aaltoma, S., P. Lipponen, and V. Kosma. Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression and its prognostic value in prostate cancer. Anticancer research, 2000. 21(4B): p. 3101-3106.

- 54. Jadeski, L.C., K.O. Hum, C. Chakraborty, and P.K. Lala. Nitric oxide promotes murine mammary tumour growth and metastasis by stimulating tumour cell migration, invasiveness and angiogenesis. **International journal of cancer**, 2000. 86(1): p. 30-39.
- 55. Rahman, M.A., T. Senga, S. Ito, T. Hyodo, H. Hasegawa, and M. Hamaguchi. Snitrosylation at cysteine 498 of c-Src tyrosine kinase regulates nitric oxidemediated cell invasion. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2010. 285(6): p. 3806-3814.
- 56. Zhou, J., N. Dehne, and B. Brüne. Nitric oxide causes macrophage migration via the HIF-1-stimulated small GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2009. 47(6): p. 741-749.
- 57. Kawasaki, K., R.S. Smith, C.-M. Hsieh, J. Sun, J. Chao, and J.K. Liao. Activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase Akt pathway mediates nitric oxide-induced endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2003. 23(16): p. 5726-5737.
- 58. Morales-Ruiz, M., D. Fulton, G. Sowa, L.R. Languino, Y. Fujio, K. Walsh, and W.C. Sessa. Vascular endothelial growth factor–stimulated actin reorganization and migration of endothelial cells is regulated via the serine/threonine kinase Akt. Circulation research, 2000. 86(8): p. 892-896.
- 59. Owens, L.V., L. Xu, R.J. Craven, G.A. Dent, T.M. Weiner, L. Kornberg, E.T. Liu, and W.G. Cance. Overexpression of the focal adhesion kinase (p125FAK) in invasive human tumors. **Cancer Research**, 1995. 55(13): p. 2752-2755.
- 60. Virtakoivu, R., T. Pellinen, J.K. Rantala, M. Perälä, and J. Ivaska. Distinct roles of AKT isoforms in regulating β 1-integrin activity, migration, and invasion in prostate cancer. Molecular biology of the cell, 2012. 23(17): p. 3357-3369.
- 61. Guillou, H., A. Depraz-Depland, E. Planus, B. Vianay, J. Chaussy, A. Grichine, C. Albiges-Rizo, and M.R. Block. Lamellipodia nucleation by filopodia depends on integrin occupancy and downstream Rac1 signaling. **Experimental cell research**, 2008. 314(3): p. 478-488.
- 62. Guo, W. and F.G. Giancotti. Integrin signalling during tumour progression.Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 2004. 5(10): p. 816-826.

- Lee, S.H., J.S. Byun, P.J. Kong, H.J. Lee, D.K. Kim, H.S. Kim, J.-H. Sohn, J.J. Lee,
 S.Y. Lim, and W. Chun. Inhibition of eNOS/sGC/PKG Pathway Decreases Akt
 Phosphorylation Induced by Kainic Acid in Mouse Hippocampus. The Korean
 Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology, 2010. 14(1): p. 37-43.
- 64. Mitra, S.K. and D.D. Schlaepfer. Integrin-regulated FAK–Src signaling in normal and cancer cells. **Current opinion in cell biology**, 2006. 18(5): p. 516-523.
- 65. Roberts, M.S., A.J. Woods, T.C. Dale, P. van der Sluijs, and J.C. Norman. Protein kinase B/Akt acts via glycogen synthase kinase 3 to regulate recycling of $\alpha \nu \beta$ 3 and $\alpha 5\beta$ 1 integrins. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2004. 24(4): p. 1505-1515.
- 66. Allavena, P., A. Sica, G. Solinas, C. Porta, and A. Mantovani. The inflammatory micro-environment in tumor progression: the role of tumor-associated macrophages. **Critical reviews in oncology/hematology**, 2008. 66(1): p. 1-9.
- 67. Siegel, R.L., K.D. Miller, and A. Jemal. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 2015. 65(1): p. 5-29.
- 68. Valko, M., C. Rhodes, J. Moncol, M. Izakovic, and M. Mazur. Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. **Chemicobiological interactions**, 2006. 160(1): p. 1-40.
- 69. Sanuphan, A., P. Chunhacha, V. Pongrakhananon, and P. Chanvorachote. Longterm nitric oxide exposure enhances lung cancer cell migration. **BioMed research international**, 2013. 2013.
- Chanvorachote, P., U. Nimmannit, C. Stehlik, L. Wang, B.-H. Jiang, B.
 Ongpipatanakul, and Y. Rojanasakul. Nitric oxide regulates cell sensitivity to cisplatin-induced apoptosis through S-nitrosylation and inhibition of Bcl-2 ubiquitination. Cancer Research, 2006. 66(12): p. 6353-6360.
- 71. Wongvaranon, P., V. Pongrakhananon, P. Chunhacha, and P. Chanvorachote. Acquired resistance to chemotherapy in lung cancer cells mediated by prolonged nitric oxide exposure. **Anticancer research**, 2013. 33(12): p. 5433-5444.
- 72. Chanvorachote, P., U. Nimmannit, L. Wang, C. Stehlik, B. Lu, N. Azad, and Y. Rojanasakul. Nitric oxide negatively regulates Fas CD95-induced apoptosis

through inhibition of ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation of FLICE inhibitory protein. **Journal of Biological Chemistry**, 2005. 280(51): p. 42044-42050.

- Chunhacha, P. and P. Chanvorachote. Roles of caveolin-1 on anoikis resistance in non small cell lung cancer. International Journal of Physiology, Pathophysiology and Pharmacology, 2012. 4(3): p. 149-155.
- 74. Maiuthed, A. and P. Chanvorachote. Cisplatin at sub-toxic levels mediates integrin switch in lung cancer cells. **Anticancer research**, 2014. 34(12): p. 7111-7117.
- 75. Sarris, E.G., M.W. Saif, and K.N. Syrigos. The biological role of PI3K pathway in lung cancer. **Pharmaceuticals**, 2012. 5(11): p. 1236-1264.
- 76. Luo, J., B.D. Manning, and L.C. Cantley. Targeting the PI3K-Akt pathway in human cancer: rationale and promise. **Cancer cell**, 2003. 4(4): p. 257-262.
- Brognard, J., A.S. Clark, Y. Ni, and P.A. Dennis. Akt/protein kinase B is constitutively active in non-small cell lung cancer cells and promotes cellular survival and resistance to chemotherapy and radiation. Cancer research, 2001. 61(10): p. 3986-3997.
- Mitra, S.K., D.A. Hanson, and D.D. Schlaepfer. Focal adhesion kinase: in command and control of cell motility. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 2005. 6(1): p. 56-68.

APPENDIX



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

VITA

Mr. Vhudhipong Saisongkorh was born on October 4, 1984 in Bangkok. He received his B.Sc in Pharm (Pharm.D) from the faculty of Pharmacy, Srinakharinwirot University in 2009



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University